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 The Complaint in this matter alleged that Campaign for a Conservative Majority 

(“CCM”) operated as a “scam PAC” by fraudulently misrepresenting itself as acting on behalf of 

Trump in robocall solicitations and by diverting almost all of the funds raised to a company 

owned by William Hartford, the treasurer of CCM, during the 2020 election cycle.1  Respondents 

denied the allegations.2  The Office of General Counsel (“OGC”) recommended that the 

Commission find reason to believe that CCM and Hartford knowing and willfully fraudulently 

misrepresented themselves as acting on behalf of Trump, knowingly and willfully failed to report 

the robocalls as independent expenditures, and failed to include an adequate disclaimer in the 

robocalls.3  OGC further recommended that the Commission authorize an investigation. 

Relevant here, Hartford declared under penalty of perjury that the last robocall occurred 

on November 3, 2020, and we have no information to the contrary.4  Unfortunately, the 

Complaint was not filed until April 22, 2024, approximately 3.5 years after the last robocall 

 
1  Compl. at 2 (Apr. 22, 2024).  The Complaint also named Anna Hartford, William Hartford’s wife and 

“assistant treasurer”, as a respondent in her official and individual capacities.  Id. at 1. 

2  Resp. at 2-3 (July 15, 2024). 

3  Specifically, OGC recommended that the Commission find reason to believe that: (1) CCM and Hartford 

knowingly and willfully violated 52 U.S.C. § 30124(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.16(b) by fraudulently misrepresenting 

that CCM was acting on behalf of a federal candidate; (2) William Hartford knowingly and willfully violated 52 

U.S.C. § 30124(b)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 100.16(b)(2) by participating or conspiring in the plan; (3) CCM knowingly 

and willfully violated  52 U.S.C. §§ 30104(b)(4)(H)(iii), (g)(1), (2) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.4(a), (b) by  failing to file 

independent expenditure reports; (4) William Hartford in his personal capacity knowingly and willfully violated 52 

U.S.C. §§ 30104(b)(4)(H)(iii), (g)(1), (2) and 11 C.F.R. §104.4(a), (b) by failing to file independent expenditure 

reports;  and (5) CCM and Hartford violated 52 U.S.C. § 30120(a) by failing to include disclaimers on robocalls.  

See First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 25-26 (Mar. 26, 2025).  OGC recommended that the Commission dismiss the 

allegation that respondents violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3 in connection with reporting 

contributions the Committee made to political committees during the 2020 election cycle and disbursements it made 

in 2023.  Id. at 26. 

4  Resp., William Hartford Decl. ¶ 18 
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occurred.  OGC took another 11 months to draft and circulate the First General Counsel’s 

Report, and the Commission considered the matter in executive session on April 29, 2025.  After 

factoring in 30 days of tolling provided by Respondents, the statute of limitations fully expires in 

December 2025.5  In the best of times, it would be difficult for OGC to complete an investigation 

in seven months.  However, we also knew at the time of the vote that the Commission would lose 

quorum the next day,6 and thus would be unable to approve an investigatory plan or authorize 

subpoenas,7 making a successful investigation an impossibility.  I therefore voted to dismiss the 

matter as an exercise of prosecutorial discretion.8 

 

 

 

__________________                                    ___________________ 

Date      Dara Lindenbaum  

      Commissioner  

 

 

 

 
5  The claims for fraudulent misrepresentation and the failure to include a disclaimer accrued on the day of 

the robocall, while the claim for failing to report the robocalls as independent expenditures accrued on the day the 

disclosure report was due. 

6  Statement of Commissioner Allen J. Dickerson Upon the Conclusion of his Term, 

https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/Statement-Commissioner-Allen-J-Dickerson-Upon-

Conclusion-of-Term.pdf.  

7  See Directive 74 (Nov. 1, 2023), https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/directive_74.pdf. 

8  Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985); Certification ¶ 2 (May 1, 2025). 
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